FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, DC 20463
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION October
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463 %ﬁﬂ 88? 2b P 3 U9

MEMORANDUM | SENS|TWE

TO: THE COMMISSION

THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON
STAFF DIRECTOR

ROBERT J. COSTA
DEPUTY STAFF DIRECTOR

FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON
' ASSISTANT STAFE/DIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION

. SUBJECT: REASON TO BELIEVE RECOMMENDATION -

12 DAY PRE-PRIMARY REPORT (NY) FOR THE
ADMINISTRATIVE FINES PROGRAM

Attached is a list of political committees and their treasurers who failed to timely
file the 2004 12 Day Pre-Primary Report for New York in accordance with 2 U.S.C.
434(a). On August 10, 2004, Prior Notice was sent to the political committees and their
treasurers, informing them that the report was due on September. 2, 2004 and should
cover the period from July 1, 2004 through August 25, 2004.

The committees appearing on the attached circulation rel\;ort have failed to file
their reports prior to four (4) days before the primary election (considered a non-filed
report). In accordance with the schedule of civil money penalties located within 11 CFR
§111.43, the committees should be assessed the civil money penaltles included on the
attached list. '

Recommendation
(1) Find reason to believe that the political committees and their treasurers listed on the
RTB Circulation Report violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary

determination that the civil money penalties would be the amount indicated on the
RTB Circulation Report.

(2) Send the appropriate mailgrams.
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DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Wednesday, October 27, 2004 11:00

- BALLOT DEADLINE: Monday, November 01, 2004 4:00

COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SMITH, THOMAS, TONER, WEINTRAUB

SUBJECT: Reason to Believe Recommendation — 12 Day Pre-Primary
Report (NY) for the Administrative Fines Program. Memorandum
from the Assistant Staff Director Reports Analysis D|V|S|on
dated October 25, 2004.

() | approve the recommendation(s)
() | object to the recommendatioh(s)
() | approve the recommendatlons except those followmg

to which | object (please insert AF#)

() " | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain (please insert AF#) '

() . | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

() | am not voting on this tally.

A definite vote is requiréd. All ballots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot no later
- than date and time shown above.

DATE: ___ ~ SIGNATURE:

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION



BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of )
)
Reason To Believe Recommendation - 12 ) AF #1180
Day Pre-Primary Report (NY) For The )
Administrative Fines Program: Meeks for )
- Congress and Joan E. Flowers, Esq., as )
ey treasurer. )
1
e

‘m CERTIFICATION

e
:‘;: I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election Commission, do hereby
p‘»ﬂ .

certify that on November 01, 2004, the Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to

take the following action in AF 1180:
1. Find reason to believe that Meeks for Congress and Joan E. Flowers,
Esq., as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary
determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount of
$4,500.00.
2. Send the appropriate mailgram.

Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub

vote affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:
?j)mwy%at/ / 2004 %?J ,(QM
ate ary ove

Secrgtaty of the Commission
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WESTERN UNION COMMERCIAL SERVICES
"CONFIRMATION GF CMGM TC:JOAN Ee« FLCHERS ESQ.

MEEKS FOR CONGRESS

21910 S CONDUIT AVE

SPRINGFIELC GARDENS NY 11413-3462

FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
DAYNA BROWN

999 £ ST NW # 709
WASHINGTON DC 20463

NOGVEMBER 2y 2004

JUAN E« FLOWERS ESQ.

MEEKS FOR CONGRESS

219~-10 SOUTH CONDUIT AVENUE
SPRINGFIELD GARDEN NY 11413

€C00329375
AFg: 118¢

DEAR JOAN Eo FLOWERS ESQ.:

THE FEDERAL ELECTIGN CAMPAIGN ACT OF 1971y AS AMENDED (®THE
ACT"), REQUIRES THAT YOUR COMMITTEE FILE A 12 DAY PRE-PRINARY REPORT
OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS IN ANY CALENDAR YEAR DURING WHICH
THERE IS A REGULARLY SCHEDULED ELECTION FOR WHICH THE CANDIDATE IS
SEEKING ELECTIONy OR NOMINATION FOR ELECTIONe THIS REPORT, COVERING
THE PERICD THROUGH AUGUST 25, 2004, SHALL BE FILED NO LATER THAN
SEPTEMEBER 2y 2004e 2 UeSele 434(A)e YCU WERE PREVIOUSLY NOTIFIED
OF THE DUE DATE FOR THE REPORT. RECORDS AT THE COMMISSION INDICATE
THAT THIS REPORT WAS NOT . FILED PRIOR TO FOUR (4) DAYS BEFORE THE
ELECTIONe. YOU SHOULD FILE THE REPORT IF YOU HAVE NOT ALREADY DONE
SCe

. THE ACT WAS FURTHER AMENDED IN 1999 TO PERMIT THE FEDERAL
ELECTION COMMISSION (®FEC™) TQ IMPOSE CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES FOR
VIOLATIONS OF THE REPORTING REQUIREMENTS OF 2 UeSeCas 434(A)e 2
UeSeCe 437GLAN(4)s GCN 11/C172004s THE FEC FOUND THAT THERE IS
REASON TO BELIEVE ("RTB™) THAY MEEKS FOR CONGRESS AND YQUs AS
TREASURERy VIOLATED 2 UeSeCle 434(A) BY FAILING TQ FILE TIMELY THIS
REPORY ON OR BEFORE SEPTEMBER 2y 2004. BASED ON THE FEC®S SCHEDULES
OF CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES AT 11 CeFeRe 111.43y THE AMOUNT OF YOUR
CIVIL MONEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT THE RTB STAGE IS 34500. IT 15 DUE
BY 12/11/2004 AND IS BASED ON THESE FACTGRS:

ELECTION SENSITIVITY OF REPORT: ELECTION SENSITIVE
LEVEL OF ACTIVITY: $57151

NUMBER OF DAYS LATE: NOT FILED

NUMBER OF PREVIQUS CIVIL MCNEY PENALTIES ASSESSED: 2

—
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WESTERN UNION COMMERCIAL SERVICES

TO PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY

TO PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTYs SEND THE ENCLDSEQ
REMITTANCE AND YOUR PAYMENT TO THE FEC AT THE ADDRESS ON PAGE 3.
UPON RECEIPT OF YOUR PAYMENT, THE FEC WILL SEND YOU A FINAL
DETERMINATION LETTER.

TO CHALLENGE THE RTB FINDING AND/OR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY

TC CHALLENGE THE RTB FINDING AND/OR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY
PENALTYs YOU¥MUST SUBMIT A WRITTEN RESPONSEs INCLUDING THE AF# FOUND
ON PAGE ONEy TO THE FEC'S OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW, 999 E
STREETy NWy WASHINGTONy DC 20463. YOUR RESPONSE MUST BE RECEIVED
BY 1271172004 YOUR WRITTEN RESPONSE MUST INCLUDE THE REASON(S) WHY
YOU ARE CHALLENGING THE RT8 FINDING AND/CR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY
PENALTYe THE FEC MWILL ONLY CONSIDER CHALLENGES THAT ARE BASED ON A
FACTUAL ERRORy MISCALCULATION CF THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY
BY THE FECy OR THE EXISTENCE OF EXTRAORDINARY CIRCUMSTANCES THAT
PERSISTED FOR MORE THAN 48 HOURS THAT WERE BEYOND YOUR CONTROL AND
PREVENTEC YOU FROM FILING THE REPORT IN A TIMELY MANNER. YOUR
RESPONSE MUST INCLUDE THE FACTUAL BASIS SUPPORTING THE REASON(S) AND
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATICONe THE FEC STRONGLY ENCOURAGES THAT DOCUMENTS
B SUBMITTED IN THE FORM OF AFFIDAVITS OR DECLARATIONS. EXAMPLES OF
CIRCUMSTANCES THAT WILL NOT BE CONSIDERED EXTRACRDINARY INCLUDE, 8UT
ARE NOT LIMITED TOs NEGLIGENCE, PROBLEMS WITH VENDORS OR
CONTRACTORSy STAFF ILLNESSy COMPUTER FAILURES AND SIMILAR
CIRCUMSTANCESe 11 CeFeRe 11135(8)(1)(III) AND (4). :

YOUR FAILURE TO RAISE AN ARGUMENT IN A TIMELY FASHION DURING THE
ADNINISTRATIVE PROCESS SHALL BE DEEMED A WAIVER OF YOUR RIGHT 7O
PRESENT SUCH ARGUMENT IN A PETITION TO THE DISTRICT COURT UNDER 2
UeSele 4376Ge 11 CeFeRe 111438,

IF YOU INTEND TO BE REPRESENTED BY COUNSEL: PLEASE AOVISE THE
OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEWe YOU SHCULD PROVIDEs IN MRITING»
THE NAMEs ADDRESS AND TELEPHONE NUMBER OF YOUR COUNSEL AND AUTHORIZE
COUNSEL T0 RECEIVE NOTIFICATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS RELATING TO THIS
CHALLENGE AND IMPOSITIGON OF THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY.

IF YOU DC NOT PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MCNEY PENALTY OR SUBMIT A
CHALLENGE

IF YGU 0O NOT PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY GR SUBMIT A
WRITTEN RESPONSEs THE FEC KILL ASSUME THAT THE PRECEDING FACTUAL
ALLEGATIONS ARE TRUE AND MAKE A FINAL DETERMINATION THAT MEEKS FOR.
CONGRESS AND YQUs AS TREASURERs VIOLATED 2 UeSeCe 434(A) AND ASSESS
A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY.

UNPAID CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES ASSESSED THROUGH THE ADMINISTRATIVE
FINE REGULATIONS WILL BE SUBJECT TO THE DEBT COLLECTION ACT OF
1962(®0CA")AS AMENDED BY THE OEBT COLLECTION IMPROVEMENT ACT OF
19969 31 UeSeCe 3701 ET SEQe THE FEC MAY TAKE ANY AND ALL
APPROPRIATE ACTION AUTHORIZEL AND REQUIRED BY THE DCAy AS AMENDED,
INCLUDING TRANSFER TO THE UeSe DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY FOR
COLLECTIONs 11 CeFeRe 11le45.

. THIS MATTER WAS GENERATED BASED ON INFORMATION ASCERTAINED BY
THE FEC IN THE NORMAL COURSE OF CARRYING OUT ITS SUPERVISORY
RESPONSIBILITIESe 2 UeSele 437GLANI2). IT WILL REMAIN CONFIDENTIAL
IN ACCORUCANCE WITH 2 UeSeCe 437GLA)14)(B) AND 437GLA)(12)(A) UNTIL
IT IS PLACED ON THE PUBLIC RECORD IN ACCCRDANCE WITH 11 CeFeRe

e

P A A
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WESTERN UNION COMMERCIAL SERVICES

111429 UNLESS YOU NOTIFY THE FEC IN WRITING THAT YOU WISH THE
MATTER TC BE MADE PUBLIC.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON THE FEC®S ADMINISTRATIVE FINE PROGRAM,
INCLUDING THE FINAL REGULATICNSy IS LOCATED AT THE FEC'S WEBSITE AT
WHWFECo.GOVe IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS REGARDING THE PAYMENT OF THE
CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTYy PLEASE CCNTACT DAYNA C. BROWN IN THE
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISICN AT CUR TOLL FREE NUMBER (800)424-9530 (AT
THE PROMPT PRESS 5) OR (2020694~1130. IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS
REGARDING THE SUBMISSION OF A CHALLENGE, PLEASE CONTACY THE OFFICE
OF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW AT QUR TOLL FREE NUMBER (800)424-9530
(PRESS 0y THEN EXTe 1660) OR (202)694-1660.

SINCERELY,

BRADLEY Ae SMITH
CHAIRMAN

% % ¥ * %* % £ * B * * * ¥ %
ADMINISTRATIVE FINE REMITTANCE & PAYMENT INSTRUCTIONS

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SCHELULE OF PENALTIES AT 11 CeFeRe
11143y THE AMOUNT OF YOUR CIVIL MONEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT THE RTB
STAGE IS $4500 FOR THE 2004 12 DAY PRE-PRIMARY REPORT.

PLEASE MAIL THIS REMITTIANCE WITH A CHECK OR. MONEY ORDER MADE

lPAYABLE TO THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSICN TO THE FOLLOWING ADDRESS:

FEDERAL ELECTICN COMMISSIOCN
PeOe. BOX 952182
STe LOUISy MO €3195-2182

IF YOU CHOOSE TO SEND YOUR REMITTANCE AND PAYMENT BY COURIER OR
UVERNIGHT DELIVERYs PLEASE USE THIS ADDRESS:
UeSe BANK - GOVERNMENT LOCKBCX
FEC #952182
1005 CONVENTION PLAZA
STe LOUISe MO 63101

THE REMITTANCE AND YOUR PAYMENT ARE DUE BY 12/11/2004. UPON
RECEIPT COF YOUR REMITTANCE ANC PAYMENT, THE FEC WILL SEND YOU A
FINAL DETERMINATIGON LETTER.

PLEASE DETACH AND RETURN THE PORTION BELUW WITH YOUR PAYMENT

- - - - A D D P D WD D D D W TP A A Y S D A D D WD A A Ty D MDD D A D P D T D D A o Wl A T D D Rt S

FOQRs MEEKS FOR CONGRESS

FEC 1D#: C€00329375

AF#: 1180

PAYMENT DUE DATE: 12/11/72004

PAYMENT AMOUNT DUE: $4500



FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 00y I -4 A 9 33
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

January 5, 2005

SENSITIVE

MEMORANDUM
" TO: THE COMMISSION
M
ey THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON
@ | STAFF DIRECTOR
e
¥
" | ROBERT J. COSTA
.m DEPUTY STAFF DIRECTOR
&)
o FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON 74
" ASSISTANT STAFF/DIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION
SUBJECT: ADMINISTRATIVE FINES FINAL DETERMINATION
RECOMMENDATION FOR THE 2004 12 DAY PRE-PRIMARY
REPORT (NY)

Attached are two circulation reports identifying two political committees and their
treasurers against which the Commission has found reason to believe (RTB) and assessed
proposed civil money penalties calculated at RTB for failure to timely file the 2004 12
Day Pre-Primary Report. The first report represents the committee that has paid the civil
money penalty and the second report represents the committee that has not paid. "The
committee that has not paid has been given at least forty (40) days from the date of the
Commission’s RTB finding to remit payment.

In accordance with 11 C.F.R. 111.34 and 11 C.F.R. 111.40, the Commission shall
send a final determination notice to those respondents that have either paid or not paid the
civil money penalty.

RAD Recommendation

(1) Make final determinations that the political committees and their treasurers on the
attached reports violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalties so
indicated. |

(2) Send the appropriate mailgrams.
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COMMITTEE THAT HAS PAID
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COMMITTEE THAT HAS NOT PAID
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washington, DC 20463

SENSITIVE

DATE & TIME TRANSMITTED: Thursday, January 06, 2005 _11:00

RETURN TO COMMISSION SECRETARY BY: Tuesday, January 11, 2005 4:00

o COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SMITH, THOMAS, TONER, WEINTRAUB
(]

MY SUBJECT: Administrative Fines Final Determination Recommendation
e for The 2004 12 Day Pre-Primary Report (NY),

[;'n A Memorandum from the Assistant Staff Director, Reports

~y Analysis Division dated January 5, 2005.

&

e () | approve the recommendation(s)

(R

™ () | object to the recommendation(s)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
to which | object (please insert AF#) ;

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain (please insert AF#) .

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

() I am not voting on this tally.

A definite vote is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot no later
than date and time shown above.

DATE: ' SIGNATURE:

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of )

)
Administrative Fines Final Determination ) AF #1180
Recommendation For The 2004 12 Day )
Pre-Primary Report (NY): Meeks for )
Congress and Gregory Meeks, as )
treasurer. )

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election Commission, do hereby
certify that on January 11, 2005, the Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take

the following actions in AF #1180:

1. Make final determination that Meeks for Congress and Gregory
Meeks, as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil

money penalty of $4,500.00.
2. Send the appropriate mailgram.

Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub

voted affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:
/. 2005 %M %/KQJW-
Dhate Kary W. Dgve

Secretary ¢f the Commission



N e SO BTN T e -wa v S a1V Wi

WESTERN UNION COMMERCIAL SERVICES
CONFIRMATION OF MAILGRAM TG:JOAN Eeo FLCWERS ESQ.
MEEKS FOR CONGRESS
21910 5 CONDUIT AVE
SPRINGFIELL GARDENS NY 11413-3462

FEDERAL ELECTICN COMMISSION
DAYNA BRCWN

999 E ST NW # 709
WASHINGTCON DOC 20463

JANUARY 12, 2005

JOAN Ee FLOWERS ESQ.

MEEKS FOR CONGRESS

219-10 SOQUTH CONDUIT AVENUE
SPRINGFIELD GARDEN NY 11413

00329375
AFd: 1180

DEAR JOAN Ee FLUOWERS ESQes

ON 1170172004, THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION (9FECY) FOUND
REASON TC BELIEVE (PRTB™) THAT MEEKS FUOR CONGRESS AND YQOUs AS
TREASURERy VIDLATED 2 UeSeCe 434{A) FOR FILING LATE OR FAILING TO
FILE THE 2004 12 DAY PRE-PRIMARY REPORT. BY MAILGRAM DATED
11/02/2004y THE FEC SENT YCU NOTIFICATION QF THE RTB FINDING THAT
INCLUDED A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY CALCULATEC AT THE RTB STAGE OF $4500
IN ACCORCANCE WITH THE SCHEDULE OF PENALTIES AT 11 CeFeRe 1lle43e
ON 1271572004y THE FEC RECEIVED PAYMENT CF YDUR CIVIL MONEY PENALTY
CALCULATED AT THE RTB STAGE. THEREFORE, THE FEC MADE A FINAL
DETERMINATION ON 0171172005 THAT YOUs AS TREASURERs AND MEEKS FOR

CONGRESS VIOLATED 2 UeSeCe 434(A)e ASSESSEDC A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN

THE AMOUNT OF $4500 IN ACCCROANCE WITH 11 CeFeRe 1lle43y AND VOTED
TO CLOSE THE FILE.

THE CONFIDENTIALITY PROVISIONS AT 2 UeSeCe 437G{AX(12) NO LONGER

APPLY AND THIS MATTER IS NCW PUSLIC. THE FILE WILL BE MADE A PART
OF THE PUBLIC RECORD PURSUANT T0 11 CeFeRs 111442(B)e ALTHOUGH THE
FILE MUST BE PLACED ON THE PUBLIC RECORD WITHIN THIRTY (30) DAYS
FROM THE DATE OF THE COMMISSICNNCTIFICATIONs, THIS COULD OCCUR AT
ANYTIME FOLLOWING CERTIFICATION OF THE CCMMISSIONVOTE.

IF YOU HAVE ANY QUESTICNS REGARDING THIS MATTERs PLEASE CONTALT
DAYNA Ce. BROWN ON OUR TOLL FREE NUMBER (800)424-9530 (AT THE PRONMPT
PRESS 5) OR (202)694-1130.

SINCERELY,
SCOTT £. THOMAS
CHAIRMAN
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, DC 20463
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o THIS IS THE ENDING OF ADMINSTRATIVE FINE CASE # /80

It
DATE SCANNED ¥ /05'
SCANNER NO. |

SCAN OPERATOR &s)
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